# iscte

INSTITUTO UNIVERSITÁRIO DE LISBOA

# A Configurational Analysis of Tourism Performance

Mário Nuno Henriques Agostinho

Master in Hospitality and Tourism Management

Supervisor: Dr. Álvaro de Borba Cruz Lopes Dias, Assistant Professor, ISCTE Business School

September, 2023



Department of Marketing, Strategy and Operations

A Configurational Analysis of Tourism Performance

Mário Nuno Henriques Agostinho

Master in Hospitality and Tourism Management

Supervisor: Dr. Álvaro de Borba Cruz Lopes Dias, Assistant Professor, ISCTE Business School

September, 2023

To my friends and family

## Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank Professor Álvaro Dias. His knowledge and experience in the field of tourism, as well as his vision since the beginning of this project, were determinant for the elaboration of this thesis. Without his insight, guidance, feedback, and suggestions, this thesis would definitely not have been possible.

Secondly, I would like to thank my family. The opportunity to be in this stage of my life is all due to their support and everlasting care, in particular, over the last year.

#### Resumo

A proposta desta dissertação de mestrado é a de oferecer uma nova perspetiva sobre os fatores que determinam a performance turística dos países. O objetivo deste estudo passa por compreender como se relacionam estes fatores, e de que forma influenciam a performance turística. O princípio por detrás da metodologia deste estudo é a de que o turismo é um fenómeno complexo, que é afetado por múltiplos e complexos fatores, e que não pode ser explicado apenas pelo efeito singular de cada variável. Por isso, foi feita uma análise qualitativa comparativa com conjuntos *fuzzy* (fsQCA), com cinco variáveis retiradas do Índice de Desenvolvimento de Viagens e Turismo (TTDI) do World Economic Forum, onde foram identificadas sete configurações de fatores antecedentes do produto interno bruto (PIB) do setor de viagens e turismo. Estas configurações revelam de que forma, e em que circunstâncias, estes fatores influenciam a performance turística nos países com mais e com menos PIB do setor de viagens e turismo.

Palavras-chave: performance turística, PIB do setor das viagens e do turismo, fsQCA

### Abstract

The purpose of this master's thesis is to offer a new perspective on the factors that determine a country's tourism performance. The objective of this study is to understand how these factors are related, and how they influence tourism performance. The principle behind the methodology of this study is that tourism is a complex phenomenon, which is affected by multiple and complex factors, and which cannot be explained solely by the singular effect of each variable. Therefore, a fuzzy-set qualitative comparative analysis was performed (fsQCA) with five variables taken from the Travel and Tourism Development Index (TTDI) of the World Economic Forum, where seven configurations of antecedent factors of Travel and Tourism Industry Gross Domestic Product (T&T Industry GDP) were identified. These configurations reveal how, and in which circumstances, these factors influence tourism performance in countries with high and low T&T Industry GDP.

Keywords: tourism performance, T&T Industry GDP, fsQCA

## Contents

Acknowledgements	iii	
Resumo	v	
Abstract	vii	
Chapter 1. Introduction	1	
Chapter 2. Literature Review	3	
2.1. Tourism and the Economy		
2.1.1. Causality	3	
2.2. Travel and Tourism Industry Gross Domestic Product	4	
2.3. Antecedents of Travel and Tourism Industry GDP	5	
2.3.1. Travel and Tourism Capital Investment	5	
2.3.2. Travel and Tourism Government Expenditure	6	
2.3.3. Country Brand Strategy	8	
2.3.4. Impact of Rules on FDI	9	
2.3.5. Extent of Staff Training	10	
2.4. Complexity Theory	11	
Chapter 3. Methodology	13	
3.1. Data	13	
3.2. Analytical Approach: Qualitative Comparative Analysis	14	
3.2.1. Calibration	15	
Chapter 4. Results	17	
4.1. Analysis of Necessary Conditions	17	
4.2. Analysis of Sufficient Conditions for T&T Industry GDP	17	
Chapter 5. Discussion	23	
Chapter 6. Conclusion	27	
References	29	
	ix	

## List of Tables and Figures

Table 3.1	14
Table 4.1	20
Figure 5.1	25

#### Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic presented a major blow to economic activity worldwide and the tourism sector has taken one of the hardest hits (S. Xiang et al., 2021). This is particularly noticeable when looking at the variation in the weight of tourism in the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in several economies, in the periods before the pandemic and during the pandemic. In 2018, tourism accounted for an average of 4.1% of GDP (\$1,632,940 million) in high-income economies, and, in 2020, that value was less than half, at around 2% (\$887,171 million) (World Economic Forum [WEF], 2022). Given the importance that many countries have given to tourism as a driver for economic growth, it is only natural that more and more studies are appearing on the topic (e.g., Dogru & Bulut, 2018; Lin et al., 2019; Stauvermann & Kumar, 2017; Tugcu, 2014), and in particular on the determinants of tourism (e.g., Assaf & Josiassen, 2012; Corne & Peypoch, 2020; Marrocu et al., 2015; Zadeh Bazargani & Kiliç, 2021).

However, tourism is a complex phenomenon (Darbellay & Stock, 2012) and it is hard to even settle on a concrete definition of what the tourism sector is (Cellini & Torrisi, 2013). Some authors like Antolini (2021, p.3) go as far as to say that tourism itself is not a sector but rather a part of other fields, such as the social and economic fields. In the *glossary of tourism terms* provided by the United Nations World Tourism Organization (2023), the tourism sector is defined as follows: a "cluster of production units in different industries that provide consumption goods and services demanded by visitors". These industries, otherwise known as tourism industries, such as the lodging, and food and beverage industries, form an interactive network where they influence each other and the tourism sector as a whole (Banerjee et al., 2015). Beyond its internal system, the tourism sector also possesses a dynamic relationship with other sectors, most notably, with the economic and political sectors (Nguyen et al., 2020; Banerjee et al., 2015). This complex "system of interconnected industries and markets in crosscutting contexts" (Aguinis et al., 2023, p.8) warrants an equally complex analysis that diverges from the linear approach adopted by other studies on tourism phenomena (Stevenson et al., 2009).

This study addresses the complex nature of tourism, employing fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis (fsQCA) with complexity theory principles to explore the complex relationships of five antecedents, and to find which combinations of these antecedent factors explain high and low Travel & Tourism Industry Gross Domestic Product (T&T Industry GDP). While previous studies have already identified tourism as a complex phenomenon (e.g., Darbellay & Stock, 2012), and used configurational approaches (e.g., Corne & Peypoch, 2020),

this study contributes to the existing literature by adding a refreshing approach to tourism performance (proxied by T&T Industry GDP) in high-income economies, with a unique set of five antecedent factors – Travel and Tourism capital investment, Travel and Tourism government expenditure, country brand strategy, impact of rules on foreign direct investment, and extent of staff training.

# CHAPTER 2 Literature Review

#### 2.1. Tourism and the Economy

Tourism is often regarded as a promotor of regional economic development (Lin et al., 2019). The appeal of tourism as an economic driver is the possibility of converting a free good – natural and socio-cultural resources – into part of a tourism product (Mihalič, 2014). The positive economic effects of tourism are well covered in the literature. Job promotion, poverty reduction, attraction of capital investment and foreign direct investment (FDI), increased tax revenue and foreign exchange earnings are some examples of the economic benefits of tourism (Adedoyin et al., 2022; Can & Gozgor, 2018; Dogru & Bulut, 2018; Gholipour et al., 2022; Khan et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2019; Perrottet, 2021; Tugcu, 2014). Furthermore, tourism's multiplier effects on other sectors, such as accommodation and transportation, further affirm tourism's influence on the economy (Barman & Nath, 2019; Tugcu, 2014).

#### 2.1.1. Causality

Although it may be true that tourism brings with it economic benefits, the causal relationship between tourism development and economic growth is very much up for debate. Understanding causality - between tourism development and economic growth, in this case - is fundamental to making predictions and being able to make better decisions (Zhang et al., 2018). Spirtes et al. (1993, p.42) describe causation as a "relation between particular events", where both the cause and the effect are a particular event. Considering the case in discussion in this paper specifically, an example of a causal inference could be: if tourism grows, the economy grows, and if tourism contracts, the economy contracts. This relationship indicates a "lawlike necessity" (Pearl, 2000, p.1), meaning that when tourism development occurs (the cause), economic development occurs (the effect). Interestingly, this example is the basis for one of four causal hypotheses for tourism and economic growth found in the literature - tourism-led growth hypothesis, or growth hypothesis. This hypothesis derives from the export-led growth hypothesis that posits that export growth instigates economic growth through increases in efficiency and productivity (Nowak et al., 2007). Accordingly, tourism-led growth consists of the hypothesis that tourism is a driver of economic growth (Dogru & Bulut, 2018). The other three hypotheses are the growth-led tourism or conservation hypothesis, the feedback hypothesis, and the neutrality hypothesis. In the growth-led tourism hypothesis the causality inverts, with economic growth being the cause of tourism development (Stauvermann & Kumar, 2017). While the two hypotheses previously discussed support a unidirectional causality, the feedback hypothesis proposes a bi-directional causality, where tourism growth and economic expansion are interdependent (Dogru & Bulut, 2018). Lastly, the neutrality hypothesis is that there is no causality between tourism and economic growth (Tugcu, 2014).

The reality seems to be that none of these hypotheses can translate into a universal truth and are dependent on the context in which they are studied, meaning that each of these hypotheses can be proven true depending on the indicator used or the country in study (Can & Gozgor, 2018; Lin et al., 2019; Tugcu, 2014). This corroborates with Suárez (2014) who defends the idea that causal evidence is context-specific, where evidence can support a claim in one context and disprove it in another.

#### 2.2. Travel and Tourism Industry Gross Domestic Product

Studies in the literature use different variables to measure tourism performance. Some measure more objective tourism data, like tourist expenditure (e.g., Deskins & Seevers, 2011; Marrocu et al., 2015; Olva & Mehran, 2017; Sokhanvar, 2019), tourism receipts (e.g., Ağazade & Karasakaloğlu, 2022; Dogru & Bulut, 2018; Sokhanvar, 2019; Zadeh Bazargani & Kiliç, 2021), tourist arrivals (e.g., Adedoyin et al., 2022; Khan et al., 2020) and overnight stays (e.g., Antolini, 2021; Assaf & Josiassen, 2012). Others use more economic-oriented metrics, such as GDP (e.g., Goel & Budak, 2010) or Gross State Product (e.g., Deskins & Seevers, 2011). Meanwhile, this study utilizes T&T Industry GDP as a proxy for tourism performance. Authors like Zadeh Bazargani & Kiliç (2021), and Ağazade & Karasakaloğlu (2022), also deployed T&T Industry GDP in their studies. The main objective of this variable is being able to assess the impact of tourism on the economy. According to the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Developmment (OECD) (2022, p.12), T&T Industry GDP is a fraction of the total GDP that comprises the contributions of each sector made in "response to internal tourism consumption". Studies, however, may use slightly different variations of this variable, such as direct tourism GDP and indirect tourism GDP (see OECD, 2022), or use proxies for tourism, such as tourism receipts, as a share of the GDP (e.g., Sokhanvar, 2019).

#### 2.3. Antecedents of Travel and Tourism Industry GDP

This subsection analyses, in detail, five antecedents of T&T Industry GDP and their importance to tourism and the economy.

#### 2.3.1. Travel and Tourism Capital Investment

Given the nature of the tourism sector, particularly, its necessity of physical infrastructure and equipment to accompany its intensive demand, it is reliant on investments, more specifically, on capital-intensive investments (Tovmasyan, 2021; Vellas & Bécherel, 1995). These investments are required to make up for the infrastructural needs of a tourist destination, most notably regarding transportation and accommodation (OECD, 2017). A part of these investments comes from the private sector since tourism has many stakeholders such as hotel owners, tour operators, investment funds, and property developers that provide for tourism with capital investments across the tourism spectrum (Perrottet, 2021). This type of investment can be very beneficial in regard to economic development and job creation (Nguyen et al., 2020) and countries increasingly rely on foreign capital and know-how to compensate for their inability to meet the demand of investment that tourism requires (Mihalič, 2014). Moreover, national and regional governments also play an important role in the sustainability of the tourism sector with important capital investments in infrastructure such as roads and airports, as well as water and power infrastructures, that directly or indirectly support tourism activity (Mihalič, 2014). Also, public investment is fundamental to ensure the accessibility of cultural and natural sites to the public (OECD, 2017).

According to the OECD (2017), capital investments are a particularly important factor in the growth of the tourism sector because increasing demand can overwhelm the existing infrastructure and the available supply, stunting the potential growth of the sector. The fact that capital investments provide needed infrastructure allows the economy to take advantage of the potential gain from tourism (Sokhanvar, 2019), even though this effect is more significant in higher-income economies than in tourism-dependent ones (Adedoyin et al., 2022). Besides, capital investments, namely in information and communications technology (ICT) which is becoming an increasingly more important component of these types of investment, allow companies in the tourism sector to improve their ability to reach new clients on a global scale who also benefit from this increased competitiveness, with more as well as cheaper options (Barman & Nath, 2019; Gholipour et al., 2022). All in all, these investments all contribute to increasing the appeal of a destination (OECD, 2017). For instance, Barman & Nath (2019) posit that international tourists are more drawn to tourist destinations with better transportation facilities. This leads to an acceleration of tourist arrivals (Khan et al., 2020), an argument that can be used to support the tourism-led growth hypothesis (Adedoyin et al., 2022).

Overall, a greater amount of capital investment is found to have a positive effect on economic growth and tourism development (Goel & Budak, 2010; Khan et al., 2020; Morozumi & Veiga, 2016; Nguyen et al., 2020; Tovmasyan, 2021). In particular, Tovmasyan's (2021) findings show that capital investments in tourism increase T&T Industry GDP. Khan et al. (2020), however, suggest that the causal relationship between capital investment and tourism might be bidirectional, meaning that tourism also influences the amount of capital investment.

#### 2.3.2. Travel and Tourism Government Expenditure

Governmental action is regarded as an indispensable means for the preservation and protection of the social, cultural, and natural resources that tourism relies upon (Nguyen et al., 2020). This is particularly important, not only from an environmental and sentimental standpoint, but because it values the tourism product and has multiplier effects on the private sector that is now encouraged to exploit it and invest in it (Stabler et al., 2009). These types of expenses/investments become even more relevant considering their unlikeliness of being taken over by the private sector in an initial phase (Nguyen et al., 2020).

Government expenditure on tourism also includes other important outlays to the tourism industry such as current expenses (e.g., expenses for the maintenance of public spaces and expenses for maintaining order and security); other types of expenses that are related to incentives aimed at supporting the industry, namely, tax incentives and subsidies; and capital investments in infrastructure such as roads and airports (Statistical Office of the European Communities. et al., 2011). These expenses are crucial to guarantee a proper functioning of the tourism activity. For example, Sou & Vinnicombe (2021) and Okafor & Khalid (2021) highlight the importance of security spending, pointing out the evident negative effects that a lack of security has on tourism demand and potential investments.

In general, government spending can be seen as a promotor of tourism and economic growth for its importance in raising infrastructure that lowers the costs for tourism providers and increases the overall appeal of the destination (Goel & Budak, 2010). In some cases, however, government spending can have unintended outcomes. Excessive government investment changes the proportion of private/public capital accumulation ratio that reduces the returns on private investment, perverting the incentives of the private sector (Nguyen et al., 2020). Also, tax incentives can potentially create a perverse effect on private investment. The increase in government bonds with the objective to finance a tax cut, can negatively affect

private investment given that these new government bonds crowd out the amount of privately issued bonds, reducing their investment ability (Abel, 2017). Another potential unintended outcome is on short-term growth. Public investments in tourism infrastructure likely divert public investments from other areas or substitute private investment, which can negatively impact said growth (Goel & Budak, 2010). Additionally, short-term growth can also be harmed by longer implementation delays in public investments that can result in even less private investment and a deceleration of labour and output, due to a decrease in public supply in that period (Leeper et al., 2010, p.8).

Literature on government expenditure has presented mixed results. Antolini's (2021) study on public expenditure in Italy between 2000 and 2017 found public expenditure to have a negative impact on tourist arrivals and nights spent. Another study on government spending in Italy by Cellini & Torrisi (2013), presented similarly unsatisfactory results regarding travel and tourism government spending and number of tourists, especially concerning public spending in current accounts. Interestingly, public spending in capital accounts appears not to have significance on the number of accommodations infrastructure (Cellini & Torrisi, 2013). On the contrary, Nguyen et al.'s, (2020) findings show that travel and tourism government expenditure is a driver of private investment in the tourism sector which suggests that travel and tourism government expenditure might stimulate tourism development and economic growth. Similarly, Assaf & Josiassen (2012) found government expenditure in tourism to be one of the most impacting determinants of tourism performance. Other more nuanced findings on the effects of public spending are also present in the literature. Rosentraub & Joo (2009), for instance, noted that, although public investment in amenities is not per se a driver of economic development of a certain region, the lack of amenities may hinder economic growth. Okafor & Khalis (2021) found that security spending is, indeed, important to stabilize the normal number of visitors during an armed conflict but its effects are only noticeable after eight years.

As Banerjee et al. (2015) clarified, it is very hard to assess the net impact of an investment in tourism since every country has its own specific context that significantly alters the perspective on how government expenditure can be judged. Moreover, and considering the complex nature of tourism, it is hard to impute government expenses in tourism to the overall government spending given that some expenses aimed at other sectors can also affect tourism, as is the case of transportation, for example (Antolini, 2021). This means that some analyses of the impact of public investment in tourism might be misleading (Cellini & Torrisi, 2013). Not only that, but the success of a public investment depends on the nation's or region's ability to absorb it (Banerjee et al., 2015, p. 168). Countries with greater openness to the outside world

have a higher chance of making full use of public investments as catalysts for development (Goel & Budak, 2010). Similarly, public investment might be more impactful in nations lagging in infrastructure (Nguyen et al., 2020).

#### 2.3.3. Country Brand Strategy

Looking at the tourism industry from a competitive standpoint, countries are essentially competing against one another to attract potential tourists (Fetscherin, 2010). From this perspective, it's a logical path to understanding how country brand strategy is an important tool for countries seeking to set themselves apart. Still, country brand strategy is not solely linked to the tourism industry (Dinnie, 2022). Countries may seek to build a strong brand in order to maintain a positive outward image, increase the value of the products they make, and appeal to foreign investors (Hao et al., 2021). Fundamentally, what all of these objectives have in common is the idea of competition and standing out against competitors (i.e., other countries). However, there is no general consensus on what exactly a nation brand is (Hao et al., 2021). While it may seem like a mere marketing strategy, in reality, it is a much more complex, multidimensional concept that branches out into other areas such as politics and the economy, and which, in some countries, has even led to laws and public-private partnerships focused on promoting the country (Fetscherin, 2010). The complexity of country branding stems not only from its multidisciplinary nature but also from its myriad of stakeholders (Dinnie, 2022). Aronczyk (2013) emphasizes that nation branding is more than just "slapping" a logo on a country, and, for that reason, it is a distinct concept from product branding. At its core, nation branding relates to the image and reputation of a country which can influence factors like the number of tourists or FDI (Papadopoulos et al., 2016).

Fetscherin (2010), identifies two ways of measuring country brands, a consumer-based equity approach and a company-based equity approach. The first approach looks at brand value as being defined by the consumers themselves, in other words, it bases brand value on consumer perception and assessment (Fetscherin, 2010). The second approach uses performance data to evaluate how a country's brand has affected exports, tourism, FDI, and immigration (Fetscherin, 2010). According to this second approach, strong country brand is associated with high levels of exports, high levels of tourism, high levels of FDI, and high levels of immigration (more specifically, immigration of skilled workers and foreign students) (Fetscherin, 2010). Similarly, Gupta et al. (2021) found a positive relationship between government marketing and promotional efforts and higher inflows of foreign investment. Still, some of the links between these connections are fuzzy. In an attempt to investigate the relationship between nation

branding and FDI, Papadopoulos et al. (2016) determine that while it is possible to identify multiple factors affecting investor decisions, it is difficult to conclude which factors are most impactful. In other words, while it is clear that there is some intersection between country branding and FDI, there is no clear understanding of which aspects of country branding, and in what contexts, will most positively affect FDI (Papadopoulos et al., 2016).

#### 2.3.4. Impact of Rules on FDI

The continued rise of tourism prompted an increased demand for resources which has seen many countries turn to foreign capital as a manner of compensating for already very limited resources (Ağazade & Karasakaloğlu, 2022). FDI stands out against other types of international capital as it is a more reliable source of cash flow due to its relative stability (Iamsiraroj & Ulubaşoğlu, 2015). And considering tourism's thorough reliance on capital, to fund infrastructures like new airports and hotels or transport-related infrastructure, it becomes clear why tourism relies so much on FDI (Nunkoo & Seetanah, 2018).

In general, FDI is believed to be strongly associated with a country or region's economic growth, especially due to the globalization of modern economies (Sabir et al., 2019). Most notably, FDI is a valuable provider of technological advancement, innovation, and managerial and organizational know-how, as well as capital renewal (OECD, 2023; Ağazade & Karasakaloğlu, 2022; Fauzel, 2020). However, it should not be generalized that an increase in FDI share in the economy is always an optimal policy, as shown by Sokhanvar (2019), who found a negative relationship between FDI and GDP growth in a sample of European countries. Also, the capacity of an economy to take full advantage of FDI is diminished without healthy financial markets and increased levels of international commerce (Iamsiraroj & Ulubaşoğlu, 2015). More specific to the tourism context, studies in the literature positively associate foreign direct investment with higher T&T Industry GDP and as an overall contributor to tourism development (Ağazade & Karasakaloğlu, 2022; Fauzel, 2020; Nunkoo & Seetanah, 2018; Sou & Vinnicombe, 2021). Others, like Sokhanvar (2019), posit the inverse relationship.

Within the tourism economy, FDI is regarded as an effective tool for making sure essential components of the industry (i.e., hotels, restaurants, transportation, tourism sites, and tours) are well supported (Nunkoo & Seetanah, 2018). Moreover, the attraction of multinationals positively contributes to the increase of human capital, as they are often linked with high levels of staff training (Fauzel, 2020).

Papers in the literature highlight the role of governance in attracting FDI (e.g., Sou & Vinnicombe, 2021; Sabir et al., 2019; Contractor et al., 2020; Falk, 2016; Azémar & Desbordes;

2010, Kalinova et al., 2010). Governments (in its broadest sense) play an important role in attracting foreign investment due to their ability to regulate it and make it more or less restrictive (Contractor et al., 2020). Contractor et al. (2020, p.11) argue that multinational enterprises (MNE) adopt a comprehensive perspective of the institutional and regulatory paradigm before investing in another country and present four important aspects an investor looks up before making an investment decision: ease of entry, contract enforcement, ease of trading, and ease of exit. Another valuable factor MNEs take into consideration before investing in a new country is the country's protection of Intellectual Property Rights (IPR), which is also positively linked to higher levels of FDI (Khoury & Peng, 2011; Sou & Vinnicombe, 2021).

Restrictions on FDI are barriers that create higher business expenses that drive away companies to other countries with more friendly regulations (OECD, 2023). This high cost of compliance is linked with lower FDI inflows (Gupta et al., 2021). Restrictions on FDI include excessive bureaucracy, complex regulation, and limitations to foreign equity, to name a few (Falk, 2016). Assaf & Josiassen (2012), cast visa requirement and time required to start a business as two of the most negatively impactful determinants on tourism performance. Park (2023), identifies a negative relationship between restriction on FDI and tourism growth. Despite the predominant tendency to lift restrictions on foreign investment, most notably in manufacturing sectors, the service sector continues to be the most affected by these restrictions (Mistura & Roulet, 2019). Naturally, various authors suggest reforms to liberate FDI restrictions (e.g., Contractor et al., 2020; Mistura & Roulet, 2019).

#### 2.3.5. Extent of Staff Training

The success of the tourism sector is largely determined by its workforce (Knollenberg et al., 2022). This workforce holds a set of skills, denominated Human Capital (Goldin, 2016), that is a vital asset for economic growth and labour productivity (Stauvermann & Kumar, 2017). Businesses engaged in the tourism industry that lack the ability to attract and maintain skilled labour are at risk of becoming less competitive (Fuchs, 2022).

The Travel & Tourism industry faces many challenges regarding its labour force, such as high turnover rates and a lack of personnel (Matev & Assenova, 2012). Moreover, digitalisation has been reshaping the sector in recent years, creating new roles and business models, and posing additional challenges to workers in the industry (Dredge et al., 2019). The recent pandemic of COVID-19 has also severely impacted the hospitality and tourism panorama, complicating host-guest interactions in hotels, for example (K. Xiang et al., 2022). These challenges bolster the importance of human capital investments, in particular, training. The Oxford Learner's Dictionary (2023) defines (staff) training as "the process of learning the skills that you need to do a job". Any industry nowadays, including tourism, incorporates training in its human resources development program to develop the skills of its employees (Malik & Balyan, 2018, p.11). One reason might be economic, meaning that a more prepared employee should overcome the necessity of hiring a new one (Knollenberg et al., 2022). Additionally, training allows tourism businesses to address the industry's high turnover rates (Bird et al., 2010). Firstly, it raises the overall well-being of the employees, resulting in higher levels of labour productivity (i.e., human capital accumulation) (Knollenberg et al., 2022; Stauvermann & Kumar, 2017). Secondly, training provides workers with a range of different skills that prepare them to be able to perform in the most varied scenarios (Baum, 2015). For example, high staff turnover in the tourism sector in Thórsmörk, located in the volcanic hazard zone of Katla, in southern Iceland, reinforced the importance of regular staff training, since the staff must be always prepared to respond in the event of an eruption warning (Bird et al., 2010).

However, Goel & Budak's (2010) findings, for instance, point to an insignificant relationship between the quality of the workforce and economic growth. Also, Stauvermann & Kumar (2017) concluded that only in a situation of price elasticity of the tourism demand could the economy benefit from an increase in labour productivity, and Knollenberg et al. (2021) that the return on an investment in human capital is limited by the extent to which investments in other areas are made. Assaf & Josiassen (2012), on the other hand, posit that the level of staff training is a key determinant of tourism. Nonetheless, it is clear that training remains an indispensable tool for skill development in any organization in the tourism business (Malik & Balyan, 2018) and it is vital to improve the future readiness of the labour force in the sector (World Travel & Tourism Council [WTTC], 2021).

Although some of these antecedents have already been linked to T&T Industry GDP in previous studies, this study innovates in analysing the complex relationships between these five antecedents and how they combine to lead to T&T Industry GDP. The following subsection introduces complexity theory, which is useful for understanding how variables can impact the outcome differently, depending on the context in which they find themselves.

#### **2.4.** Complexity theory

Complexity theory revolves around the notion that events are complex and "relationships between variables can be non-linear, with abrupt switches occurring, so the same 'cause' can, in specific circumstances, produce different effects" (Urry, 2005, p.5). In essence, the idea behind this theory is that an outcome is rarely explained by a single condition but rather by a complex combination of conditions, and those conditions affect the outcome differently, depending on how they are aligned (Ordanini et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2014).

Complexity theory relies on the tenets of equifinality, causal complexity, and causal asymmetry that are reflected in the fuzzy-set qualitative comparative analysis (Prentice, 2020). Equifinality explains how multiple combinations can lead to the same result (Mendel & Korjani, 2013). Causal complexity assumes that combinations – as opposed to singular conditions – create pathways to a specific result (Salonen et al., 2021), implying that the same singular condition may be present in configurations that lead both to a positive outcome and a negative outcome (Prentice, 2020). Causal asymmetry refers to how combinations that lead to a low outcome are not, necessarily, the opposite of combinations that lead to a high outcome (Rihoux & Ragin, 2009, p.9).

Many prior studies have, in the most varied fields, also applied complexity theory in their research (e.g., (Gligor & Bozkurt, 2020; Ordanini et al., 2014; Prentice, 2020; Woodside, 2015; Wu et al., 2014), including in hospitality and tourism (e.g., Corne & Peypoch, 2020; Hsiao et al., 2015; McDonald, 2009; H. G. Olya & Mehran, 2017; H. G. T. Olya et al., 2019; Zahra & Ryan, 2007). Olya & Mehran (2017), for instance, developed a configuration model of tourism expenditure for 105 countries, between 2009 and 2013, based on key tenets of complexity theory, and tested the model with fsQCA. Similarly, this study utilizes complexity theory and fsQCA to analyse combinations of antecedent factors that lead to T&T Industry GDP.

# CHAPTER 3 Methodology

#### **3.1.** Data

This study deploys five independent variables - travel and tourism capital investment (T&T capital investment), travel and tourism government expenditure (T&T government expenditure), country brand strategy, impact of rules on FDI and extent of staff training – and a dependent variable - T&T Industry GDP. The data was collected from the Travel & Tourism Development Index 2021 of the World Economic Forum (WEF, 2022) in reference to the years 2020 and 2021 (albeit some weights relate to 2019) for high-income economies in 2020. According to the World Bank's 2020 classifications by income, high-income economies refer to countries where the gross national income (GNI) per capita was greater than \$ 12,535 (as cited in WEF, 2020) and includes the following countries: Australia, Austria, Bahrain, Belgium, Canada, Chile, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hong Kong SAR, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Kuwait, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, New Zeeland, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Trinidad and Tobago, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom, United States of America, and Uruguay (WEF, 2020). Table 3.1 provides a deeper insight into each variable, according to WEF (2022).

#### Table 3.1

Variable Description

Variable	Description		
T&T Industry GDP (US\$	"Travel and Tourism industry direct contribution to		
million)	GDP, US\$ million"		
T&T Capital Investment (%	"Travel and Tourism capital investment as a		
Total Capital Investment)	percentage of total capital investment"		
T&T Government Expenditure	"Travel and Tourism government expenditure as a		
(% Government Budget)	percentage of total government budget"		
Country Brand Strategy (0-100)	"This indicator evaluates the accuracy of a National		
	Tourism Organization's (NTO) Country Brand		
	Strategy"		
Impact of Rules on FDI (1-7)	"Response to the survey question: "In your country,		
	how restrictive are rules and regulations on foreign		
	direct investment (FDI)?" [1= Extremely restrictive;		
	7 = Not restrictive at all]"		
Extent of Staff Training (1-7)	"Response to the survey question: "In your country,		
	to what extent do companies invest in training and		
	employee development?" $[1 = Not at all: 7 = To a$		
	great extent]"		

Note. This table provides a description of each variable, retrieved from: *https://www.weforum.org/reports/travel-and-tourism-development-index-2021/explore-the-data* 

#### 3.2. Analytical Approach: Qualitative Comparative Analysis

The analysis in this study uses a configurational approach, fsQCA, a type of approach that has seen a rise in popularity in recent years (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). Fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis (fsQCA), first introduced by social scientist Charles Ragin, is a technique that combines fuzzy-logic principles with qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) (Mendel & Korjani, 2013). QCA is a technique of asymmetric data analysis that allows the researcher to take advantage of the strong points of both qualitative and quantitative-based methods, providing the researcher with the ability to explore large numbers of cases without foregoing important contextual data (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). Compared to other QCA variations

(e.g., mvQCA and csQCA), fsQCA is not limited to binary variables (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). The use of fuzzy sets gives fsQCA the "ability to (...) capture variation in set membership in degree" (Vis & Dul, 2018, p.876). Fuzzy sets were described by Ragin (2000, p. 316) as a "half-verbal-conceptual and half-mathematical-analytical" language that allowed social scientists to intertwine data and theory – a so-called "bridge" between qualitative and quantitative methods.

FsQCA transports the key tenets of complexity theory to the results and tests for combinatory theories that can explain the intended outcome (Wu et al., 2014). As opposed to other methods such as regression analysis which aim to identify the overall impact of independent variables on dependent variables, fsQCA searches to find conditions or combinations of conditions (configurations) that lead to a given outcome (Vis & Dul, 2018). The idea is that examining combinations can facilitate the identification of causal patterns that may not be identified if the variables were examined on their own (Gligor & Bozkurt, 2020).

To carry out this study, five factors (i.e., the independent variables) were chosen as conditions that could be combined in different ways to achieve the same outcome: high (and low) T&T industry GDP (i.e., the dependent variable). Given that causal asymmetry is a characteristic of fsQCA, these factors can be combined to explain high travel and tourism industry gross domestic product as well as low travel and tourism industry gross domestic product – although the combinations that lead to a high outcome may not be the exact opposite of those that lead to a low outcome.

#### 3.2.1. Calibration

Any researcher attempting to perform rigorous research should be cautious about using reliable and valid data. In the case of fsQCA, the researcher must consider another step: calibration (Vis & Dul, 2018). In this step, variables from the original data are converted into fuzzy sets (Pappas & Woodside, 2021).

Fuzzy sets are organized as groups, where each variable belonging to the group is given a score from 0 to 1 which indicates how much it belongs to the group (0 = full exclusion, 1 =full inclusion) (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). Within this range, "three qualitative breakpoints" are defined: full membership (1), full non-membership (0), and the cross-over point (0.5) (Ragin, 2000, p. 270). This shows how fsQCA is capable of identifying variation both in kind (i.e., in or out) as well as in degree (i.e., how much) (Vis & Dul, 2018).

The calibration of data into fuzzy sets should follow theoretical guidelines and take into account the context of the study (Ragin et al., 2017). Hence, the choice of thresholds for

membership anchors should not be mechanical (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). The definition of these anchors is crucial as the results of the fsQCA analysis will differ based on the anchors chosen (Dul, 2016).

Following the recommendations of Ragin et al. (2017), the qualitative anchors for this study's analysis were set at 0.95, 0.5 and 0.05 for full membership, cross-over point, and full non-membership, respectively.

# CHAPTER 4 **Results**

#### 4.1. Analysis of Necessary Conditions

Conditions that are always present for the outcome are referred to as necessary conditions (Ragin, 2000, p.211). Nonetheless, these conditions, by themselves, are not necessarily enough to lead to the outcome (Gligor & Bozkurt, 2020). In fsQCA, conditions with a consistency value above 0.9 are considered necessary conditions, while conditions with a consistency value above 0.8 are considered almost always necessary (Ragin, 2000). According to fsQCA recommendation, the analysis of necessary conditions should precede the analysis of the truth table, which identifies sufficient configurations (Dul, 2016, p.1516). Therefore, this study commenced its analysis with the analysis of necessary conditions.

The results of the necessity analysis for this specific study, meaning an outcome of a high travel and tourism industry gross domestic product (ttigdp) and the negation of high travel and tourism industry gross domestic product (~ttigdp), show that none of the five conditions (nor their negation) passed the consistency threshold of 0.9 which means none of the conditions can be considered necessary.

#### 4.2. Analysis of Sufficient Conditions for T&T Industry GDP

The analysis of necessary conditions is followed by the analysis of sufficient conditions and combinations of conditions. It is considered sufficient, a causal condition or combination of conditions that always leads to a specific outcome even though the outcome may derive from other conditions (Gligor & Bozkurt, 2020). Sufficient conditions are subsets of the outcome (Salonen et al., 2021). The focal point of analysing necessary conditions is, precisely, the possible subset relationships between conditions and the outcome of interest (Ragin, 2000, p.278).

This analysis is made based on the elaboration of the truth table – also referred to as the Boolean chart (Salonen et al., 2021). The truth table presents all logical combinations of causal conditions (configurations) and each of their individual empirical outcomes (Vis, 2012). Each of these combinations of causal conditions is represented in a row (Ragin, 2017). Based on the five conditions, it is safe to assume that this table contained  $2^5=32$  configurations or, from another perspective, thirty-two rows (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). The number of rows, however, was reduced in the following step, in accordance with a frequency threshold and a

consistency cutoff (Fiss, 2011). The frequency threshold was set at 5, meaning that only configurations that had at least 5 empirical cases would be considered (Ragin, 2008). Consistency, on the other hand, refers to the number of empirical cases that lead to the outcome in a configuration – the number of cases in each configuration that lead to the outcome divided by the number of cases in each configuration that do not lead to the outcome (Fiss, 2011). According to Ragin (2008, p. 136), the minimum cutoff value should not be lower than 0.75. In this case, the consistency cutoff was set at 0.8, meaning only configurations with consistency above 0.8 were listed. The literature also advises the researcher to add Proportional Reduction in Inconsistency (PRI) consistency as an additional measure in the truth table – PRI measures the consistency of subset relations (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). This goes hand in hand with what Schneider & Wagemann (2012, p. 278) say about how researchers should be aware of simultaneous relations before determining that a row is sufficient to lead to the outcome. This study restrained configurations scoring lower than 0.7 from entering the outcome since lower PRI consistency scores indicate significant inconsistency (Greckhamer et al., 2018).

Afterwards, the truth table is reduced to simplified configurations using the truth table algorithm (i.e., Quine-McCluskey algorithm) which is based on Boolean algebra (Fiss, 2011) (Mendel & Korjani, 2012). The truth table algorithm relies on counterfactual analysis (Fiss, 2011). Counterfactual analysis assesses the plausibility of logical remainders (i.e., configurations with no empirical observations) (Ragin & Sonnett, 2005, p.184). This is important because it helps solve the problem of the lack of empirical instances derived from huge numbers of rows in the truth table (i.e., problem of limited diversity) (Fiss, 2011).

The truth table algorithm generates three solutions: complex, parsimonious, and intermediate (Mendel & Korjani, 2013). The complex solution includes every possible combination of conditions – this number of configurations can grow quite large, even when there are few conditions (Pappas & Woodside, 2021). In this solution, no counterfactual cases are included (Ragin & Sonnett, 2005, p.14). Still, given the potentially very large number of configurations, the complex solution can then be simplified into the parsimonious solution, which, unlike the complex solution, includes *all* counterfactuals (Fiss, 2011). Finally, the intermediate solution is found using counterfactual analysis of the complex and parsimonious solutions (Liu et al., 2017). The intermediate solution includes both easy and difficult counterfactuals (Fiss, 2011). Significantly, these solutions allow the researcher to distinguish between core and peripheral conditions (Greckhamer et al., 2018). Core conditions will be present in both the

parsimonious and intermediate solutions while peripheral conditions are only present in the intermediate solution (Liu et al., 2017).

Consistency and coverage were used as metrics to assess the goodness of fit of the solution. Consistency measures how consistently an outcome is displayed in cases that share a particular configuration, while coverage determines the empirical significance of a configuration that leads to a specific outcome (Ragin, 2008, p.44). Unique coverage, on the other hand, describes "how much of the outcome is covered only by a specific path" (Schneider & Wagemann, 2012, p.133).

It can be inferred, by looking at Table 4.1, that all configurations can be sufficient for high T&T Industry GDP considering that all configurations along with the overall solution scored higher or equal to the threshold for consistency of 0.8 - as previously mentioned. Regarding coverage, each of the configurations had a unique coverage greater than 0, which means that none of the configurations are redundant (Schneider & Wagemann, 2012, p.133). According to the results, the three solutions account for a significant amount of the outcome, with an overall solution coverage of 0.72.

#### Table 4.1

	High T&T Industry GDP, USD			Low T&T Industry GDP, USD			
	(ttigdp)			(~ttigdp)			
Configuration	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	C6	C7
T&T Capital			$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$			
Investment		$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$			
T&T							
Government			$\bigcirc$			$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Expenditure			$\bigcirc$			$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Country Brand	$\bigcirc$		$\frown$			$\bigcirc$	Ω
Strategy	$\otimes$		$\bigcirc$			$\bigcirc$	$\otimes$
Impact of	0	•		$\frown$	$\bigcirc$		
Rules on FDI	$\otimes$	$\otimes$		$\bigcirc$	$\otimes$		
Extent of Staff		$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$			$\bigcirc$	
Training		$\otimes$	$\bigcirc$		$\otimes$	$\otimes$	
Consistency	0,85	0,80	0,80	0,85	0,83	0,85	0,88
Raw Coverage	0,43	0,43	0,29	0,50	0,36	0,33	0,35
Unique	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.17	0.05	0.02	0.05
Coverage	0,05	0,05	0,05	0,17	0,03	0,05	0,03
Overall							
solution		0,80			0,	84	
consistency							
Overall							
solution		0,72			0,	83	
coverage							

Configurations for high and low T&T Industry GDP

*Note.*  $\bullet$  - indicate the presence of a condition (core);  $\otimes$  - indicate the negation of a condition (core);  $\bigcirc$  - indicate the presence of a condition (peripheral);  $\otimes$  - indicate the negation of a condition (peripheral)

The first configuration shows that a combination of high level of extent of staff training (core) with low levels of impact of rules on FDI (core) and low levels of country brand strategy led to a high T&T industry GDP. The second reveals that high country brand strategy (core) with low T&T capital investment (core), low impact of rules on FDI (core) and low extent of staff training, regardless of T&T government expenditure, also led to high T&T industry GDP.

The last presented configuration demonstrated that high capital investment along with low T&T government expenditure, low country brand strategy, low impact of rules on FDI (core), and low extent of staff training also led to high T&T industry GDP.

On the other end of the spectrum, low T&T industry GDP can be explained by four different paths, supporting the idea of causal asymmetry (i.e., configurations may not be the logical opposite of configurations that lead to high outcome) (Rihoux & Ragin, 2009, p.9). The frequency, consistency and PRI threshold were set at the same values as in the analysis of the high T&T industry GDP. The overall solution coverage was 83%, which means a great proportion of low T&T industry GDP was explained by these four configurations. The fourth configuration presented in the table (the first configuration explaining low T&T industry GDP) showed that low T&T capital investment combined with high impact of rules on FDI led to low T&T industry GDP. The fifth solution stated that high T&T capital investment (core), low impact of rules on FDI, and low extent of staff training (core), regardless of T&T expenditure and country brand strategy, also led to low T&T industry GDP. Configuration 6 demonstrated that regardless of T&T capital investment and impact of rules on FDI, high T&T government expenditure, high country brand strategy, and low extent of staff training led to low T&T industry GDP. The last configuration presented revealed that high T&T government expenditure, high impact of rules on FDI (core) and low country brand strategy also led to low T&T industry GDP.

#### CHAPTER 5

## Discussion

The first configuration shows T&T Industry GDP depending on the extent of staff training when the impact of rules on FDI and country brand strategy are low. This configuration suggests that countries with a weaker country brand and more restrictive rules of FDI, benefit from investing in the personnel. As previously covered in the literature review, investment in the training and the development of the staff is strongly associated with increases in productivity and reduction of staff turnover, which might explain its efficacy in generating high levels of T&T GDP, despite the low levels of country brand and impact of rules on FDI (Bird et al., 2010; Knollenberg et al., 2022; Stauvermann & Kumar, 2017). This configuration is partially concordant with Assaf & Josiassen's (2012) findings, which posit that the level of staff training is a key determinant of tourism performance. However, their claim that restrictions on FDI negatively impact tourism performance is not verified in this configuration. This configuration also contradicts other findings in the literature, similarly supportive of the negative causational impact of restrictive regulation on FDI (e.g., (Mistura & Roulet, 2019; Park, 2023). Destination management not being an antecedent of tourism performance was already demonstrated in Hanafiah & Zulkifly (2019) study. This configuration identifies the context in which a lower country brand can yield stronger tourism performance results. An interpretation of this configuration may be that this configuration is displaying countries that have a weak foreign investment attraction policy but overcome this by having a strong educational policy or culture that incentivises companies and employees to invest in their skill development. For this reason, this configuration will be called TRAINERS.

The second configuration reveals that high T&T Industry GDP can also derive from a combination of a good country brand strategy, low T&T capital investment, low extent of staff training and more restrictive rules on FDI, implying that countries that have lower metrics like this are taking advantage of having a strong country brand strategy to boost their tourism revenue. It is interesting to intersect this configuration with Fetscherin's (2010) study, which linked country brand with high levels of FDI, immigration of skilled workers and more exportation. This might justify the resentment in these countries to make reformations to liberalize rules on FDI, who, instead, rely on a brand strategy to attract FDI, and also, the low levels of staff training, since with the arrival of these workers companies can allocate costs in other areas, which might also be contributing to the high levels of T&T industry GDP. This configuration also highlights the complexity of country brand addressed in Papadopoulos et

al.'s (2016) paper. Comparing this configuration with the first configuration, it is possible to observe that, in different contexts, both the absence and the presence of a strong brand strategy can lead to the same result. In fact, and taking into account all configurations, this study could be very useful for anyone who wants to understand in which contexts having a strong country brand strategy can lead to better tourism performance. Given the strong stance of the countries in this configuration in following the strategy of investing in their brand, this configuration is named MARKETEERS.

Configuration 3 comprises all five conditions, with all but T&T capital investment being present in configuration for the outcome of High T&T Industry GDP to occur. In other words, countries with high T&T government expenditure, high country brand strategy, high impact of rules on FDI, high extent of staff training levels and low T&T capital investment are countries with high T&T industry GDP. It is interesting to observe that T&T capital investment is either low or absent in all configurations that lead to high T&T industry GDP, contradicting studies such as those of Tovmasyan (2021), Banerjee et al. (2015), and Assaf & Josiassen (2012). One reason might be that because the data in analysis regards only high-income economies, where the need for infrastructure is lower than in other economies, capital investments in tourism may not be considered as important for tourism development as they would in another scenario (Nguyen et al., 2020). On the other hand, the contradictory findings in configurations 1 and 2 regarding the impact of rules on FDI, are in this configuration concordant with the literature. This configuration builds on the studies of Gupta et al. (2021), Assaf & Josiassen (2012), Contractor et al. (2020), Park (2023), Fauzel (2020), and Mistura & Roulet (2019), and provides a context in which less restrictive rules can be beneficial to improve tourism performance. Furthermore, the findings in this configuration regarding government expenditure are also in line with other studies in the literature (e.g., (Assaf & Josiassen, 2012; Banerjee et al., 2015; Deskins & Seevers, 2011; Nguyen et al., 2020)). Considering that a government's spending on tourism may also account for capital investments (Mihalič, 2014), as well as marketing efforts to promote the country's brand (Gupta et al., 2021), it is plausible to hypothesise that countries in this configuration may have already reached sufficient maturity when it comes to tourismrelated infrastructure and prefer to allocate their public resources elsewhere, for instance in the development of a strong country brand strategy, in security, and promotion of tourism corporate training. Therefore, the name of this configuration is STATESMAN.

Figure 5.1

High T&T Industry GDP configurations



The configurations that lead to low T&T industry GDP also need to be discussed since they add equally relevant content to the literature on tourism performance. Building on Goel & Budak's (2010) findings that investments in infrastructure have perverse effects on economic growth – which according to either the growth-led hypothesis or bidirectional hypothesis also has effects on tourism growth – configuration 5 shows that higher capital investment in tourism may, in fact, lead to lower T&T industry GDP if legislation on FDI is stricter and the levels of staff training remain low. The fact is that capital investments in tourism always come at the expense of reallocating resources from elsewhere (for example, from staff training), which could arguably be more important for tourism development, even if allocated in other sectors (Sokhanvar & Jenkins, 2022). Likewise, low levels of staff training, despite nonconsensual findings in the literature, are always a concerning sign because, at minimum, training is an indispensable tool for tourism operators to retain talent (Bird et al., 2010; Knollenberg et al., 2022). Contrarily, configuration 4, despite leading to the same result – low T&T Industry GDP – depicts a configuration made up of almost mirror opposite causal conditions. In this case, low levels of capital investment and less strict rules on FDI leading to low T&T industry GDP. Although contradicting the majority of studies in the literature on FDI restrictions (e.g., Gupta et al., 2021; Park, 2023), and admitting fewer restrictions are indeed generating more inflows of FDI, this configuration is not totally revolutionary as Sokhanvar (2019) had already found a negative relationship between FDI and tourism growth.

The tenet of causal complexity, that is, the same condition can be part of two or more configurations that lead to opposite outcomes (Prentice, 2020), can be observed in its most natural form when looking at configuration 3, and at configurations 6 and 7, all depicting high T&T government expenditure. At the same time, it shows the richness of the results that can be achieved when performing a configurational analysis. While configuration 3 denies the results of Antolini (2020), configurations 6 and 7 prove that high government spending can, in fact, negatively impact tourism performance if combined with high country brand strategy and low extent of staff training, or low country brand strategy and high impact of rules on FDI, respectively. The potential negative side effects of public investment, already addressed in the literature, such as the crowding-out effect (Abel, 2017), help to explain these results and it would be interesting for future studies to delve deeper into these effects using this study as a starting point, given that it presented situations where public investment led to high T&T Industry GDP.

## Conclusion

This dissertation aimed to contribute to the literature on the topic of tourism performance. Despite the numerous papers on the topic, few studies actually attempt to provide a general overview of the drivers of tourism performance. Even fewer are those that studied tourism performance through a configurational approach. Understanding what, and in which circumstances, drives tourism performance is of utmost interest to those who wish to improve it. Rooted in complexity theory, this study took on five antecedents of tourism performance and, through a configurational analysis, studied how these conditions best configured themselves to result in higher (and lower) T&T industry GDP.

The major contribution of this study to the literature was revealing seven unique configurations that help explain T&T industry GDP in high-income economies. Each of these configurations displays unique sets of conditions, analysed for the first time in this paper. This study identifies that no single necessary condition is sufficient to explain either high or low T&T industry GDP, proving the principle that tourism is a complex phenomenon. For that reason, this study confirms the usefulness of approaches like fuzzy-set qualitative comparative analysis to study the tourism world. With this in mind, this study makes use of these configurations to add context to other studies in the literature and enrich the knowledge of the field of tourism.

Certainly, all studies are subject to limitations. Firstly, the use of T&T Industry GDP only accounts for the direct impacts of these variables. In other words, there could be indirect impacts of these variables on the GDP of other industries that are not accounted for in the analysis. Secondly, the conclusions reached in this study are only applicable to the data analysed, specifically, to high-income countries in 2020 and have a low predictive value. The results do not present the best path for countries to take to improve their tourism performance, but rather show how in 2020 these 5 variables impacted the T&T industry GDP in high-income economies. Lastly, and as has already been discussed with complexity theory, the five variables chosen are not representative of all of the variables that go into determining tourism performance. The factors are plentiful, and it would be extremely difficult to conduct a study including every single one of them. These limitations lend themselves to opportunities for further research. Future research could develop a more dynamic analysis, extending the period of observation. This study could significantly improve the explanatory power of these configurations if it is shown that they are part of a larger pattern and not a one-time phenomenon.

## References

- Abel, A. B. (2017). Crowding out in Ricardian economies. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 87, 52–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoneco.2017.03.002
- Adedoyin, F. F., Erum, N., & Bekun, F. V. (2022). How does institutional quality moderates the impact of tourism on economic growth? Startling evidence from high earners and tourism-dependent economies. *Tourism Economics*, 28(5), 1311–1332. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354816621993627
- Ağazade, S., & Karasakaloğlu, B. (2022). Foreign Direct Investments and Tourism: A Cross-<br/>Sectional Analysis. *Tourism Planning and Development*.<br/>https://doi.org/10.1080/21568316.2022.2135589
- Aguinis, H., Kraus, S., Pocek, J., Meyer, N., & H. Jensen, S. (2023). The why, how, and what of public policy implications of tourism and hospitality research. *Tourism Management*, 97(August 2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2023.104720
- Antolini, F. (2021). Evaluating public expenditures on tourism: the utility of the Italian public accounting reforms. *National Accounting Review*, 3(2), 179–203. https://doi.org/10.3934/NAR.2021009
- Aronczyk, M. (2013). *Branding the Nation*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199752164.001.0001
- Assaf, A. G., & Josiassen, A. (2012). Identifying and Ranking the Determinants of Tourism Performance: A Global Investigation. *Journal of Travel Research*, *51*(4), 388–399. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287511426337
- Azémar, C., & Desbordes, R. (2010). Short-run Strategies for Attracting Foreign Direct Investment. World Economy, 33(7), 928–957. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9701.2010.01226.x
- Banerjee, O., Cicowiez, M., & Gachot, S. (2015). A quantitative framework for assessing public investment in tourism - An application to Haiti. *Tourism Management*, 51, 157–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.05.015
- Barman, H., & Nath, H. K. (2019). What determines international tourist arrivals in India? *Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research*, 24(2), 180–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/10941665.2018.1556712
- Baum, T. (2015). Human resources in tourism: Still waiting for change? A 2015 reprise. *Tourism Management*, 50, 204–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.02.001
- Bird, D. K., Gisladottir, G., & Dominey-Howes, D. (2010). Volcanic risk and tourism in southern Iceland: Implications for hazard, risk and emergency response education and training. *Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research*, 189(1–2), 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvolgeores.2009.09.020
- Can, M., & Gozgor, G. (2018). Revisiting the tourism-growth nexus: evidence from a new index for the market diversification of tourist arrivals. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 21(10), 1157–1170. https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2016.1268103
- Cellini, R., & Torrisi, G. (2013). Regional public spending for tourism in Italy: An empirical analysis. *Tourism Economics*, 19(6), 1361–1384. https://doi.org/10.5367/te.2013.0235
- Contractor, F. J., Dangol, R., Nuruzzaman, N., & Raghunath, S. (2020). How do country regulations and business environment impact foreign direct investment (FDI) inflows? *International Business Review*, 29(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2019.101640
- Corne, A., & Peypoch, N. (2020). On the determinants of tourism performance. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2020.103057
- Darbellay, F., & Stock, M. (2012). Tourism as complex interdisciplinary research object. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 39(1), 441–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2011.07.002

Deskins, J., & Seevers, M. T. (2011). Are state expenditures to promote tourism effective? Journal of Travel Research, 50(2), 154–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287510362785
Dinnia K. (2022). Nation Burn diag. Baseledge. https://doi.org/10.4224/0781002100240

Dinnie, K. (2022). Nation Branding. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003100249

- Dogru, T., & Bulut, U. (2018). Is tourism an engine for economic recovery? Theory and empirical evidence. *Tourism Management*, 67, 425–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2017.06.014
- Dredge, D., Phi, G. T. L., Mahadevan, R., Meehan, E., & Popescu, E. (2019). *Digitalisation in Tourism: In-depth analysis of challenges and opportunities*. https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/33163/attachments/1/translations/en/renditions /native
- Dul, J. (2016). Identifying single necessary conditions with NCA and fsQCA. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(4), 1516–1523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.134
- Falk, M. (2016). A gravity model of foreign direct investment in the hospitality industry. *Tourism Management*, 55, 225–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2016.02.012
- Fauzel, S. (2020). FDI and tourism futures: a dynamic investigation for a panel of small island economies. *Journal of Tourism Futures*, 7(1), 98–110. https://doi.org/10.1108/JTF-05-2018-0026
- Fetscherin, M. (2010). The determinants and measurement of a country brand: The country brand strength index. *International Marketing Review*, 27(4), 466–479. https://doi.org/10.1108/02651331011058617
- Fiss, P. C. (2011). Building Better Causal Theories: A Fuzzy Set Approach to Typologies in Organization Research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 54(2), 393–420. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2011.60263120
- Fuchs, K. (2022). An interview study to explore the perceived usefulness of in-house training programs in tourism and hospitality education. *Heliyon*, 8(12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e12547
- Gholipour, H. F., Andargoli, A. E., Arjomandi, A., & Foroughi, B. (2022). Capital investment in telecommunications infrastructure and tourist arrivals in developing countries: Does the public–private sectors relationship matter? *Tourism Economics*, 28(7), 1805–1822. https://doi.org/10.1177/13548166211014814
- Gligor, D., & Bozkurt, S. (2020). FsQCA versus regression: The context of customer engagement. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.101929
- Goel, R. K., & Budak, J. (2010). Tourism policies and cross-country growth: a disaggregated analysis. In *Tourism Economics* (Vol. 16, Issue 3).
- Goldin, C. (2016). Human Capital. In *Handbook of Cliometrics* (pp. 55–86). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-40406-1 23
- Greckhamer, T., Furnari, S., Fiss, P. C., & Aguilera, R. v. (2018). Studying configurations with qualitative comparative analysis: Best practices in strategy and organization research. *Strategic Organization*, *16*(4), 482–495. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476127018786487
- Gupta, A., Gupta, S., & Shekhar. (2021). Determining Interrelationship Between Factors Impacting Foreign Direct Investment in Tourism: An ISM-based Approach. Asia-Pacific Journal of Management Research and Innovation, 17(1–2), 17–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/2319510x211048584
- Hanafiah, M. H., & Zulkifly, M. I. (2019). Tourism destination competitiveness and tourism performance: A secondary data approach. *Competitiveness Review*, 29(5), 592–621. https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-07-2018-0045
- Hao, A. W., Paul, J., Trott, S., Guo, C., & Wu, H. H. (2021). Two decades of research on nation branding: a review and future research agenda. In *International Marketing Review* (Vol.

38, Issue 1, pp. 46–69). Emerald Group Holdings Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMR-01-2019-0028

- Hsiao, J. P. H., Jaw, C., Huan, T. C., & Woodside, A. G. (2015). Illuminating happy-low and unhappy-high performing frontline service employees. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27(4), 608–647. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-11-2013-0533
- Iamsiraroj, S., & Ulubaşoğlu, M. A. (2015). Foreign direct investment and economic growth: A real relationship or wishful thinking? *Economic Modelling*, *51*, 200–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2015.08.009
- Kalinova, B., Palerm, A., & Thomsen, S. (2010). *OECD's FDI Restrictiveness Index 2010* UPDATE. https://doi.org/10.1787/5km91p02zj7g-en
- Khan, A., Bibi, S., Ardito, L., Lyu, J., Hayat, H., & Arif, A. M. (2020). Revisiting the dynamics of tourism, economic growth, and environmental pollutants in the emerging economiessustainable tourism policy implications. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 12(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12062533
- Khoury, T. A., & Peng, M. W. (2011). Does institutional reform of intellectual property rights lead to more inbound FDI? Evidence from Latin America and the Caribbean. *Journal of World Business*, 46(3), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2010.07.015
- Knollenberg, W., Brune, S., Harrison, J., & Savage, A. E. (2022). Identifying a community capital investment portfolio to sustain a tourism workforce. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 30(12), 2806–2822. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2021.1890094
- Leeper, E. M., Walker, T. B., & Yang, S. C. S. (2010). Government investment and fiscal stimulus. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 57(8), 1000–1012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoneco.2010.09.002
- Lin, V. S., Yang, Y., & Li, G. (2019). Where Can Tourism-Led Growth and Economy-Driven Tourism Growth Occur? *Journal of Travel Research*, 58(5), 760–773. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287518773919
- Liu, Y., Mezei, J., Kostakos, V., & Li, H. (2017). Applying configurational analysis to IS behavioural research: a methodological alternative for modelling combinatorial complexities. *Information Systems Journal*, 27(1), 59–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12094
- Malik, S., & Balyan, V. (2018). Importance of Training and Development in Tourism Industry. *International Refereed Journal of Reviews and Research*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.27762.02244
- Marrocu, E., Paci, R., & Zara, A. (2015). Micro-economic determinants of tourist expenditure: A quantile regression approach. *Tourism Management*, 50, 13–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.01.006
- Matev, D., & Assenova, M. (2012). Application of corporate social responsibility approach in Bulgaria to support sustainable tourism development. In *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy* (Vol. 14, Issue 6, pp. 1065–1073). Springer Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10098-012-0519-9
- McDonald, J. R. (2009). Complexity science: An alternative world view for understanding sustainable tourism development. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 17(4), 455–471. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669580802495709
- Mendel, J. M., & Korjani, M. M. (2012). Charles Ragin's Fuzzy Set Qualitative Comparative Analysis (fsQCA) used for linguistic summarizations. *Information Sciences*, 202, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2012.02.039
- Mendel, J. M., & Korjani, M. M. (2013). Theoretical aspects of Fuzzy Set Qualitative Comparative Analysis (fsQCA). *Information Sciences*, 237, 137–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2013.02.048

- Mihalič, T. (2014). Tourism and Economic Development Issues. In *Tourism and Development: Concepts and Issues* (pp. 77–117). Channel View Publications. https://doi.org/10.21832/9781845414740-005
- Mistura, F., & Roulet, C. (2019). *The determinants of Foreign Direct Investment: Do statutory restrictions matter*? 1. https://doi.org/10.1787/641507ce-en
- Morozumi, A., & Veiga, F. J. (2016). Public spending and growth: The role of government accountability. *European Economic Review*, 89, 148–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2016.07.001
- Nguyen, C. P., Binh, P. T., & Su, T. D. (2020). Capital Investment in Tourism: A Global Investigation. *Tourism Planning and Development*. https://doi.org/10.1080/21568316.2020.1857825
- Nowak, J.-J., Sahli, M., & Cortés-Jiménez, I. (2007). Tourism, capital good imports and economic growth: theory and evidence for Spain. In *Tourism Economics* (Vol. 13, Issue 4).
- Nunkoo, R., & Seetanah, B. (2018). Foreign Direct Investment and Tourism Development: A Theoretical and Empirical Review. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526461452.n33
- OECD. (2017). Leveraging Investment for Sustainable and Inclusive Tourism. OECD Publishing. https://www.oecd.org/cfe/tourism/OECD-Policy-Statement-Tourism-Policies-for-Sustainable-and-Inclusive-Growth.pdf
- OECD. (2022). OECD Tourism Trends and Policies 2022. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/a8dd3019-en
- OECD. (2023). *The Impact of Regulation on International Investment in Portugal*. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/688b30c8-en
- Okafor, L. E., & Khalid, U. (2021). Regaining international tourism attractiveness after an armed conflict: the role of security spending. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 24(3), 385–402. https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2020.1734547
- Olya, H. G., & Mehran, J. (2017). Modelling tourism expenditure using complexity theory. *Journal of Business Research*, 75, 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.02.015
- Olya, H. G. T., Shahmirzdi, E. K., & Alipour, H. (2019). Pro-tourism and anti-tourism community groups at a world heritage site in Turkey. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 22(7), 763–785. https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2017.1329281
- Ordanini, A., Parasuraman, A., & Rubera, G. (2014). When the Recipe Is More Important Than the Ingredients: A Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) of Service Innovation Configurations. *Journal of Service Research*, 17(2), 134–149. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670513513337
- Papadopoulos, N., Hamzaoui-Essoussi, L., & El Banna, A. (2016). Nation branding for foreign direct investment: An integrative review and directions for research and strategy. *Journal* of Product and Brand Management, 25(7), 615–628. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-09-2016-1320
- Pappas, I. O., & Woodside, A. G. (2021). Fuzzy-set Qualitative Comparative Analysis (fsQCA): Guidelines for research practice in Information Systems and marketing. *International Journal of Information Management*, 58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2021.102310
- Park, S. (2023). The impact of FDI restrictions on tourism growth. *Tourism Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1177/13548166231168528
- Pearl, Judea. (2000). *Causality: models, reasoning, and inference*. Cambridge University Press. Perrottet, J. (2021). *Tourism Investment Facilitation*. The World Bank Group.
- Prentice, C. (2020). Testing complexity theory in service research. Journal of Services Marketing, 34(2), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-09-2019-0353
- Ragin, C. C. (2000). Fuzzy-set social science. The University of Chicago Press.

- Ragin, C. C. (2008). *Redesigning Social Inquiry: Fuzzy Sets and Beyound*. The University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.7208/chicago/9780226702797.001.0001
- Ragin, C. C., Patros, T., Strand, S. I., & Rubinson, C. (2017). USER'S GUIDE TO Fuzzy-Set / Qualitative Comparative Analysis. www.fsqca.com.
- Ragin, C. C., & Sonnett, J. (2005). Between Complexity and Parsimony: Limited Diversity, Counterfactual Cases, and Comparative Analysis. In Vergleichen in der Politikwissenschaft (pp. 180–197). VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-322-80441-9 9
- Rihoux, B., & Ragin, C. (2009). Configurational Comparative Methods: Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) and Related Techniques (Vol. 51). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Rosentraub, M. S., & Joo, M. (2009). Tourism and economic development: Which investments produce gains for regions? *Tourism Management*, 30(5), 759–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2008.11.014
- Sabir, S., Rafique, A., & Abbas, K. (2019). Institutions and FDI: evidence from developed and developing countries. *Financial Innovation*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40854-019-0123-7
- Salonen, A., Zimmer, M., & Keränen, J. (2021). Theory development in servitization through the application of fsQCA and experiments. *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*, 41(5), 746–769. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-08-2020-0537
- Schneider, C. Q., & Wagemann, C. (2012). Set-Theoretic Methods for the Social Sciences (C. Elman, J. Gerring, & J. Mahoney, Eds.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139004244
- Sokhanvar, A. (2019). Does foreign direct investment accelerate tourism and economic growth within Europe? *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 29, 86–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2018.10.005
- Sokhanvar, A., & Jenkins, G. P. (2022). Impact of foreign direct investment and international tourism on long-run economic growth of Estonia. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 49(2), 364–378. https://doi.org/10.1108/JES-11-2020-0543
- Sou, J. P. U., & Vinnicombe, T. (2021). Does governance quality matter for FDI-led tourism development? A supply-side perspective. *Tourism Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1177/13548166211052814
- Spirtes, P., Glymour, C., & Scheines, R. (1993). *Causation, Prediction, and Search* (Vol. 81). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-2748-9
- Stabler, M. J., Papatheodorou, A., & Sinclair, M. T. (2009). *The Economics of Tourism* (Second). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203864272
- Statistical Office of the European Communities, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, World Tourism Organization, & United Nations. (2011). 2008 tourism satellite account: recommended methodological framework (TSA: RMF 2008). United Nations. https://unstats.un.org/unsd/publication/seriesf/seriesf 80rev1e.pdf
- Stauvermann, P. J., & Kumar, R. R. (2017). Productivity growth and income in the tourism sector: Role of tourism demand and human capital investment. *Tourism Management*, 61, 426–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2017.03.006
- Stevenson, N., Airey, D., & Miller, G. (2009). Complexity theory and tourism policy research. *International Journal of Tourism Policy*, 2(3), 206-220. https://www.inderscience.com/offers.php?id=24553
- Suárez, M. (2014). The Contextual Character of Causal Evidence. *Topoi*, 33(2), 397–406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11245-013-9173-z
- Tovmasyan, G. (2021). Capital investments, tourist tax and tourism development: The case study of Armenia. *Economics and Sociology*, 14(1), 199–213. https://doi.org/10.14254/2071-789X.2021/14-1/13

- Tugcu, C. T. (2014). Tourism and economic growth nexus revisited: A panel causality analysis for the case of the Mediterranean Region. *Tourism Management*, 42, 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2013.12.007
- Urry, J. (2005). The complexity turn. In *Theory, Culture and Society* (Vol. 22, Issue 5, pp. 1–14). https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276405057188
- Vellas, F., & Bécherel, L. (1995). Finance and Investment in International Tourism. In International Tourism (pp. 194–216). Palgrave. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-24074-6\_7
- Vis, B., & Dul, J. (2018). Analyzing Relationships of Necessity Not Just in Kind But Also in Degree: Complementing fsQCA With NCA. Sociological Methods and Research, 47(4), 872–899. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124115626179
- Woodside, A. G. (2015). Constructing Business-to-Business Marketing Models that Overcome the Limitations in Variable-Based and Case-Based Research Paradigms. *Journal of Business-to-Business Marketing*, 22(1–2), 95–110. https://doi.org/10.1080/1051712X.2015.1021589
- WTTC. (2021). INVESTING IN TRAVEL & TOURISM. https://wttc.org/Portals/0/Documents/Reports/2021/Investing%20in%20Travel%20and% 20Tourism%20100921.pdf?ver=2021-09-16-112521-367
- Wu, P. L., Yeh, S. S., Huan, T. C., & Woodside, A. G. (2014). Applying complexity theory to deepen service dominant logic: Configural analysis of customer experience-and-outcome assessments of professional services for personal transformations. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(8), 1647–1670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.03.012
- Xiang, K., Huang, W. J., Gao, F., & Lai, Q. (2022). COVID-19 prevention in hotels: Ritualized host-guest interactions. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2022.103376
- Xiang, S., Rasool, S., Hang, Y., Javid, K., Javed, T., & Artene, A. E. (2021). The Effect of COVID-19 Pandemic on Service Sector Sustainability and Growth. In *Frontiers in Psychology* (Vol. 12). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.633597
- Zadeh Bazargani, R. H., & Kiliç, H. (2021). Tourism competitiveness and tourism sector performance: Empirical insights from new data. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 46, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.11.011
- Zahra, A., & Ryan, C. (2007). From chaos to cohesion-Complexity in tourism structures: An analysis of New Zealand's regional tourism organizations. *Tourism Management*, 28(3), 854–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2006.06.004
- Zhang, K., Schölkopf, B., Spirtes, P., & Glymour, C. (2018). Learning causality and causalityrelated learning: some recent progress. *National Science Review*, 5(1), 26–29. https://doi.org/10.1093/nsr/nwx137